» Earth Negotiations Bulletin

A Reporting Servzce for Envzronment and Development Negotzatzons

Vol. 9 No. 74 Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development ~ Monday, 20 October 1997

REPORT OF THE THIRD MEETING OF THE UNEP GUIDELINES: The United Nations Environment
_ Programme (UNEP) Panel of Experts on International Technical
OPEN-ENDED AD HOC WORKING GROUP ON Guidelines for Biosafety met in Cairo, Egypt from 11-14 December
BIOSAFETY: 13-17 OCTOBER 1997 1995 to adopt a set of international technical guidelines for biosafety.
The third session of the Open-ended Ad Hoc Working Group on The UNEP Guidelines are intended to provide a technical framework
Biosafety (BSWG-3) met from 13-17 October 1997 in Montreal. Dele- for risk management commensurate with risk assessment, without
gates produced aconsolidated draft text that will serve asthe basisfor  Prejudice to the development of a biosafety protocol by the Conferent

negotiations for abiosafety protocol at the next session. Chair Veit of the Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity.

K oester (Denmark) stated that the entire text should be viewed in An International Workshop to Follow-up the UNEP Guidelines
“mental brackets,” explaining that “nothing is agreed until everythirgyas held in Buenos Aires on 31 October - 1 November 1996. The nir
is agreed.” teenth meeting of the UNEP Governing Council, held from 27 Janua

core articles of the protocol. Delegates also created a contact group/hd€cision urges governments and subregional and regional orga
institutional matters and final clauses, and extended the mandate cf4H8NS t0 promote the implementation of the Guidelines by desig-
existing contact group on definitions established at BSWG-2to  nating focal points in countries to apply the Guidelines, and urges
address annexes. In Plenary, delegates identified elements to be 90Vernments to promote safety in biotechnology by contributing rele
included in draft articles on the following outstanding issues: socioYant information to UNEP's International Register on Biosafety. The
economic considerations; liability and compensation: illegal traffic; Governing Council also requested the Executive Director to: continu
non-discrimination: trade Wwith non-Parties; as well as objectives, 'to promote the implementation of the UNEP International Technical

general obligations, title and preamble for the protocol. Guidelines for Safety in Biotechnology, particularly in developing
Delegates decided to carry forward of the structure of work countries; explore with other UN and international bodies the mutual

. . P : sharing of information about organisms with novel traits; and organiz
%deﬁfaiifggglw;ﬁgﬁ éolgsggguirg]&dgdg:gndgrﬁgergfl?jgfeogg?édw'th'” fwo years a second international workshop on the state of the :

agreed, subject to approval at the fourth meeting of the Conference fﬁhe implementation of the Guidelines.

Parties (COP-4) to the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD), thetOSAFETY UNDER THE BIODIVERSITY CONVENTION

two additional BSWG meetings be held and an extraordinary meeting The Convention on Biological Diversity, which was negotiated

of the COP be convened for the adoption of the protocol in Decembgfjer UNEP'’s auspices, was adopted on 22 May 1992 and opened 1
1998. Thus, BSWG-3 succeeded in establishing a definitive structdignature at the Earth Summit in Brazil on 5 June 1992. The treaty

in order to facilitate the process toward adopting a protocol, prowd fitered into force on 29 December 1993 and there are currently 169
governments demonstrate both the necessary political will and |nt

lectual discipline to meet their deadlines.

The meeting established two Sub-Working Groups to address Eﬁeb“@ry 1997 in Nairobi, adopted Decision 19/16 on biosafety.

A BRIEFHISTORY OF THE BIOSAFETY ISSUE INTHISISSUE

Since the early 1970s, recombinant DNA technology -- the abilityA Brief History of theBiosafety Issue ... .............. 1
to transfer genetic material through biochemical means -- has enablgReport of BSWG-3. . ... ..ot 2
scientists to genetically modify plants, animals and micro-organisms Roundtable DisCusSions. . .« v v v oo 3
rapidly. Modern biotechnology can also introduce a greater diversity Outstanding Issues 3
of genes into organisms, including genes from unrelated species, than Sub-Workin Grou- 1 """"""""""""" 5
traditional methods of breeding and selection. Organisms genetically b Ki 9 Pl
modified in this way are referred to as living modified organisms SUB-WorkingGroup2 . .........c.oovvvvvnienn, 7
derived from modern biotechnology (LMOSs). Contact Group on Definitions and Annexes. REREEEE 9

Although modern biotechnology has demonstrated its utility, Contact Group on Institutional Mattersand Final
there are concerns about the potential risks to biodiversity and human ~ Clauses .................. ..o 9
health posed by LMOs. Many countries with biotechnology indus- FutureWork and Mesetings. .. .................. 10
tries already have domestic legislation in place intended to ensureithe  ClosingPlenary ............................. 10
safe transfer, handling, use and disposal of LMOs and their produ¢tss Brief AnalysiSof BSWG-3................c.ovn... 11

these precautionary practices are collectively known as "biosafetyl". Thingsto L ook For
However, there are no binding international agreements addressing
situations where LMOSs cross national borders.

Thisissue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin© <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Desiree McGraw <desm@ mindspring.com>, Teya Penniman <teyamp@open.org>
Tiffany Prather <tprather@iisd.org>. The Editor is Pamela Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org> and the Managing Editor is Langskimda@eree VI <kimo@iisd.org>.The
sustaining donors of thBulletin are the Netherlands Ministry for Development Cooperation, the Government of Canada and the United States of America3&iugh U
General support during 1997 is provided by the Department for International Development (DID) of the United Kingdom, theMinigtign Affairs of Denmark, the European
Community (DG-XI), the German Ministry of Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety, the Ministries of EnvirodrRergign Affairs of Austria, the Ministr
of Environment of Sweden, the Swiss Federal Office of the Environment, and UNDBUITétien can be contacted at tel: +1-212-644-0204; fax: +1-212-644-0206. [ISD dan be
contacted at 161 Portage Avenue East, 6th Floor, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3B 0Y4, Canada; tel: +1-204-958-7700; fax: +1-204 B8 affitidns expressed in tRarth
NegotiationsBulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of 1ISD and other funders. ExcerptSdrtmNegetiations Bulletin may be used in non-
commercial publications only and with appropriate academic citation. For permission to use this material in commerciamnsyloaraact the Managing Editor. Electronic
versions of th8ulletin are sent to e-mail distribution lists and can be found on the Linkages WWW-server at <http://www.iisd.ca/linkages/>lifEhmsageeivas taken on 199y/
08/26 17:46:21 UTC from 1000000 km above Montreal, Copyright (c)1997 The Living Earth, Inc. http://livingearth.com. Foinforthation on ways to access, suppor{ or
contact thé=arth Negotiations Bulletin, send e-mail to <enb@iisd.org>.




Monday, 20 October 1997

Vol. 9 No. 74 Page 2

Partiesto the Convention. Article 19.3 of the Convention providesfor
Partiesto consider the need for and modalities of aprotocol setting out
procedures, in particular advanceinformed agreement (AlA), and to
ensure the safe transfer, handling and use of LM Osthat may have an
adverse effect on biodiversity and its components. Thefirst Confer-
ence of the Parties (COP-1) to the CBD, which washeld in Nassau, the
Bahamas from 28 November - 9 December 1994, established an Open-
ended Ad Hoc Group of Experts on Biosafety. This Group metin
Madrid from 24-28 July 1995. According to the report of the meeting
(UNEP/CBD/COP.2/7), most del egations favored the devel opment of
an international framework on biosafety under the Convention. The
proposed elements of such aframework, asdraftedin Madrid, are
divided into two categories -- those favored unanimously and those
favored by asubset of del egates representing primarily devel oping
countries. In the annex to the report, paragraph 18(a) liststhe former
elements, which include: all activitiesrelated to LM Osthat may have
adverse effects on biodiversity; transboundary movement of LM Os,
including unintended movement; release of LM Osin centres of origin/
genetic diversity; mechanismsfor risk assessment and management
(RAM); proceduresfor advance informed agreement; facilitated infor-
mation exchange; capacity-building and implementation; and defini-
tion of terms. Paragraph 18(b) liststhelatter elements, including:
socio-economic considerations; liability and compensation; and finan-
cial issues.

COP-2: At the second meeting of the Conference of Parties (COP-
2), whichtook placein Jakarta, Indonesia, from 6-17 November 1995,
del egates met in a contact group to consider the need for and modali-
tiesof aprotocol on biosafety. From the outset, it was clear that dele-
gatesintended to set in motion anegotiation processto develop a
protocol on biosafety under the CBD. While most devel oped country
delegations wanted such a protocol to focus on “transboundary
transfer of any LMO,” developing countries preferred a protocol

the field of the safe transfer, handling and use of LMOs.” The com
mise language that was adopted by the COP (Decision I1/5.1) call

“a negotiation process to develop in the field of the safe transfer,
handling and use of living modified organisms, a protocol on

biosafety, specifically focusing on transboundary movement of any,

LMO that may have an adverse effect on ... biological diversity,

setting out for consideration, in particular, appropriate procedures

advance informed agreement.”

COP-2 also established an Open-endigHoc Working Group on
Biosafety (BSWG) to meet to "elaborate, as a priority, the modaliti
and elements of a protocol based on appropriate elements from p
graph 18(a)” of the report of the Madrid meeting, and to “consider t
inclusion of the elements from paragraph 18(b) as appropriate.” Ot

terms of reference for the BSWG state that it shall: elaborate key

and concepts; consider AlA procedures; identify relevant categorie

LMOs; and develop a protocol whose effective functioning requir
that Parties establish national measures and that takes into acco

precautionary principle. The BSWG shall also: develop a protocol t
provides for a review mechanism and seeks to minimize unnecessar
negative impacts on biotechnology and does not hinder unduly acc"e%ﬁC
to and transfer of technology; take into account gaps in the existin
legal framework; develop a protocol with a view to the largest poss
number of ratifications; and use the best available scientific inform

tion. The BSWG is expected to conclude its work in 1998.

BSWG-1: Atits first meeting, held in Aarhus, Denmark, from 22
26 July 1996, the BSWG began the elaboration of an international
protocol on safety in biotechnology. Although the meeting produce
little in the way of written results, it represented a forum for definin
issues and articulating positions characteristic of the pre-negotiatia

process. The meeting revealed several interesting dichotomies,
including a fracture in the G-77/China bloc over elements to be

included in the protocol, as well as strikingly divergent perspective
biotechnology. Nonetheless, governments listed elements for a fut
protocol, agreed to hold two meetings in 1997, and outlined the inf

mation required to guide their future work.

COP-3: At its third meeting, the Conference of Parties (COP-3)
adopted Decisions I1I/5 (additional guidelines to financial mecha-

nisms) and 111/20 (biosafety issues). In so doing, the COP affirme

support for a two-track approach through which the promotion of the
application of the UNEP International Technical Guidelines for Safet)
in Biotechnology can contribute to the development and implementa
tion of a protocol on biosafety, without prejudicing the development
and conclusion of such a protocol. COP-3 also endorsed Recommet
dation 11/5 of SBSTTA-2 with regard to capacity-building in biosafety.

BSWG-2: The second meeting of Biosafety Working Group was
held from 12-16 May 1997 in Montreal. Working from aide-memoires
tabled by Chair Veit Koester, delegates discussed a range of issues,
including: objectives; AlA; notification procedures for transfers of
LMOs; competent authorities/focal points; information-sharing and a
clearing-house mechanism; capacity-building, public participation
and awareness; risk assessment and management; unintentional tre
boundary movement; handling, transportation, packaging and transi
requirements; and monitoring and compliance. Governments were
invited to submit legal text on any of the above issues by 1 August
1997. Moreover, governments that had already submitted text prior t
BSWG-2 were encouraged to revise it in light of the discussions. It we
also agreed that the Secretariat would develop draft articles on a ser
of institutional and financial matters as well as on final clauses.
BSWG-2 also convened a contact group to consider proposals on de
nitions of key terms and decided that the Secretariat should compile
alphabetical list of terms requiring definition, as submitted by coun-
tries, for consideration at the next meeting. Delegates also identified
other possible elements of a protocol for consideration at their next
session.

REPORT OF BSWG-3

BSWG Chair Veit Koester opened the third session on Monday, 1
October 1997, noting that the objective of the BSWG at this session
inwas the production of an effective summary draft protocol that would

rve as the basis for future negotiations. Citing a decision taken at
%P-& which mandated the BSWG to complete its work by 1998,
ster underscored the Working Group’s heavy workload. Further
citing CBD Article 28 on Adoption of Protocols, the Chair stated that
“consolidated draft negotiating legal text” would need to be presente
0 COP-4 in May 1998, in order to allow for the requisite six-month
g)zriod for consideration of a draft protocol to elapse before a special
ssion of the COP for the adoption of the protocol can be convened
Reuben Olembo, Deputy Executive Director of UNEP, saluted
overnments for their cooperation in submitting text for inclusion in
e draft protocol. He said the lack of human resources, institutional
pacities and infrastructure needed for an effective interchange on
rsafety-related issues should be considered in drafting the protocc
oted the importance of including all groups in the protocol devel
ent process. He noted that monetary contributions from the priva
tor are now four times as great as those from official developmen
j élgs, and recommended that the protocol development process be

te

e

u to participation by industry in addition to civil society.

Calestous Juma, Executive Secretary of the CBD, noted the sign
e of the BSWG's elaboration of the precautionary principle,
eflected in the CBD preamble, through the protocol’'s emphasis on
B4\ risk assessment and risk management. He said the COP’s deci
i0on to initiate the protocol process marked a turning point for the
onvention, as it reinforced it as an important rule-making and stan-
dard-setting environmental forum. He also stressed the importance c
the BSWG’s emphasis on procedures, and not solely rules, and calle
EPdn the introduction of procedure-based enhancements to internation
n AGENDA: The provisional agenda (UNEP/CBD/BSWG/3/1) was
introduced to the Plenary and adopted without discussion. Introducir
the organization of work, Koester underscored that the prime objecti\
this stage is not to negotiate per se, but rather to produce a consol
ed text for future negotiations. To this end, the Chair identified fou
?g:_otmponent parts” that would need to be consolidated into a draft leg
ext:
* Atrticles or issues addressed by country submissions (UNEP/CBLC
BSWG/3/3 and Add. 1-3 as well as UNEP/CBD/BSWG/3/5 and
Add.1);

dits Draft articles developed by the Secretariat concerning institutiona



Vol 9 No. 74 Page 3 @E@ﬂh.N.egotwﬂ?ﬂsﬁuﬂetm Monday, 20 October 1997

mattersand final clauses (UNEP/CBD/BSWG/3/4 and Add.1); biosafety process as a “factual exercise,” the Chair emphasized that

» Definitions and annexes compiled by the Secretariat on the basihese were not to serve as negotiating sessions nor as a platform to
of country submissions (UNEP/CBD/BSWG/3/Inf.1 and annexesomment on positions. John Herity (Canada) introduced the round-
to UNEP/CBD/BSWG/3/3); and table on Global Commodities Trade, during which formal presenta-

« Outstanding issues, grouped into the following three categoriestions were made by Piet van der Meer of the Netherlands and Dougl
socio-economic considerations, liability and compensation, andMuch of the Canada Grain Council. Tewolde Berhan Eqziabher (Ethi
monitoring and compliance; illegal traffic, trade with non-partiesppia) introduced the roundtable on Socio-Economic Issues Related
and non-discrimination; and the title, preamble, objectives and Modern Biotechnology, during which a formal presentation was mad
general obligations. by Philip Bereano, Professor of Technology and Public Policy at the

) ORéB,?NI ZATION %F r\]NOFlilK: On the basis of a proposal by théJniversity of Washington-Seattle.
Chair, delegates agreed the following organization of work. Two
parallel open-ended sub-working groups (SWG) were established %UTSTANDI NG ISSUES , :
address the core substantive articles of the protocol, as contained in(} ver the course of the week’s Plenary sessions, delegates ,
Government Submissions on Draft Text of Selected Items (UNEP/ 2ddressed a series of issues that were carried forward from BSWG-:
CBD/BSWG/3/3 and Add.1-3). SWG-1 would consider Articles 1-1{f" consideration at this meeting: socio-economic considerations;
and 12-14 regarding advance informed agreement (AIA) and risk 1apility and compensation; illegal traffic; trade with non-Parties; and
assessment and management; and SWG-2 would address Article!@-discrimination. In order to guide the Plenary’s deliberations on
and 15-22 pertaining to a broad set of issues. Delegates further agrege€, ‘outstanding” issues, the Chair presented a seageof
that each of the five regions would nominate four representatives t§€T0Ires, consisting of specific questions on each item, so that issue
assist in the drafting process. The Chair added that “groups may degfgdified during Plenary could serve as a basis for the development
for drafting reasons that only some representatives take partin that ﬁnents papers. With a view to transforming these papers into dra
of the meeting.” rticles/text, the Chair proposed three methods: government submis

SWG-1 was co-chaired by Sandra Wint (Jamaica) and Eric Sc &s; draft articles prepared by the Secretariat for the next meeting;

. ; : loping legal text at this meeting.
nejans (France) and included representatives from Kenya, Seyche e .
Guinea and Ethiopia (for the African Group): Japan, the Republic of € EU and BRAZIL underscored the importance of the
Korea, India and Malaysia (for the Asia and Pacific Group); ColomdgytStanding issues and expressed a desire that they be addressed ¢
Brazil, Bahamas and Argentina (for the Latin America and Caribbe§Hu@! footing with those issues considered in the sub-groups.
Group (GRULAC)); Belarus, Lithuania, Czech Republic and Hungary SOCIO-ECONOMIC CONSIDERATIONS: The Chair'saide-
(for Eastern and Central Europe); and Australia, Canada, Norway &#§noire on socio-economic considerations posed the following
the European Commission (for the Western Europe and Others Gréjics: the need for a provision to address socio-economic consider-
(WEOG)). ations; scope of content of any provisions; development and applica:

SWG-2 was co-chaired by David Gamble (New Zealand) and iop of socio-economic criteria; and potential socio-economic impact
Jhamtani (Indonesia) and included representatives from Mali, Egypom the development of biotechnology products based on Southern
Zimbabwe and Ghana (for the African Group); Philippines, Singapdrguntries. . _ , _
Iran and China (for the Asia and Pacific Group); Venezuela, Costa . MALAYSIA called for a provision on socio-economic consider-
Rica, Colombia and Brazil (for GRULAC); Hungary, the Russian ations, explaining that risk assessment (RA) need not be solely a sci
Federation and Poland (for Eastern and Central Europe); and Can#figactivity, but should also contain elements subject to value
US, UK and the European Commission (for WEOG). JUdgande”t- B%'—_Alt?hUS Drop%sled that ﬁOCIQ-eC?.n(l)mIC c?n_spler?nqni
Delegates also agreed to establish two open-ended contact gr ressed in the preamble as well as in articles pertaining 1o risk,
(CGs) togreview the gecretariat's Draft Text (;)n Selected ltems (SN ' that these be linked to liability of countries. JAPAN stated that
CBD/BSWG/3/4). The mandate of the Contact Group on Definition0¢/0-€conomic concerns should not be addressed in the binding pa
established at BSWG-2 would be expanded to include Annexes (C#.h€ protocol per se but perhaps in the preamble. He added that inc
1) and a new contact group would be created to consider institutionAflual countries could establish appropriate national policies based ¢
matters and final clauses (CG-2). The CGs would meet outside nofthigntific studies of the socio-economic effects of LMOs
working hours, at the discretion of the Co-Chairs (one each from G-77Asserting that governments must balance both positive and nega
China and WEOG). Following regional consultations, it was agreedive socio-economic impacts, SOUTH AFRICA supported a protocol
that CG-1 would be co-chaired by Gert Willemse (South Africa) androvision with the proviso that it emphasize national procedures bas
Piet van der Meer (Netherlands), and that CG-2 would be chaired [ minimum standards. The EU stated that socio-economic conside
John Ashe (Antigua and Barbuda), since WEOG did not nominate gtions are related to sustainable development in general and, thereft
Co-Chair. are more appropriately addressed in documents such as Agenda 21
The Chair proposed the following mandates for the SWGs and IA maintained that socio-economic considerations should be
(UNEP/CBD/BSWG/3/CRP.1), modified to specify the articles or tekiciuded in the risk provisions of the protocol with suitable exception:
to be addressed by each group. The objective of each group was td] the non-discrimination clauses to allow Parties to make decisions
develop a “consolidated draft negotiating legal text,” under the guid€9arding importing technologies. _ o
ance of anahodus operandi developed by the Co-Chairs. Taking into . The RUSSIAN FEDERATION stated that socio-economic issues
account the views of the participants, and reviewing the submissiofgould be addressed on a bilateral basis between importing and
of governments and any additional information, the mandate of thee€Xxporting Parties, not in specific provisions of the protocol, which
groups was to “identify the various options that could be in a consofitould be a technical tool for harmonizing transfers. ARGENTINA
dated text.” underscored the importance of socio-economic impacts, especially ¢
In response to a query by ETHIOPIA regarding the status of nofROMmunities, but stated that these should not be addressed in a
Parties in the negotiation process, and, in particular, of their proposjiocol- INDONESIA, noting both its strength and vulnerability as a
in the drafting process, the Chair cited the terms of reference for thE1aOr custodian of biodiversity, called for socio-economic and ethica
BSWG, as contained in the annex to COP Decision I1/5, which considerations to be addressed within the risk provisions of the

provides for the participation of experts nominated by “government¥otocol and for capacity-building to manage biosafety.

(instead of “Parties”). AUSTRALIA noted its heavy dependence on trade in the agricul-
tural sector, but expressed its reluctance to see the protocol serve ac
ROUNDTABLE DI SCUSSIONS new pretext for protectionist measures. COLOMBIA stated that socic

The Monday evening Plenary was devoted to roundtable discugconomic considerations were especially vital to centres of diversity
sions chaired by Hamdallah Zedan (UNEP). Noting that BSWG-2 reatl should be addressed within the AIA provisions of a protocol. She
agreed to hold roundtable discussions on issues relevant to the  added that exporting countries should supply importing countries wit



Monday, 20 October 1997 @Eaﬂh.N.egoﬂqtz.oﬂs__l?uﬂ_e_ﬂn Vol. 9 No. 74 Page 4

all relevant information regarding possibl e socio-economic impacts. delay. The World Intellectual Property Organization (WIPO) describe
NEW ZEALAND expressed concern that the protocol not precludethe  the Budapest Treaty on Deposit of Micro-organisms and noted the
possibility of addressing impactsonindigenous people, but statedthat  potential relevance of its Article 5 regarding imports and exports.

it was not yet clear whether such concerns could be addressed within The RUSSIAN FEDERATION and SOUTH AFRICA opposed
therisk provisions or whether they required aseparate article. development of criteria in the protocol to assess liability and compen

ETHIOPIA underscored the vital importance of socio-economic sation, while MALAYSIA said such criteria were a possibility, but
concernsto Africaand stated that although such concernsarelargely ~ whether they should be in the protocol or a separate annex was imm
national in nature, those that are specific to modern biotechnology terial. COLOMBIA maintained that any annexes should be formulate
should be addressed in an international protocol to providean presently. INDIA, COLOMBIA, MALAYSIA and the EU supported
“enabling environment” in which individual countries could secure the application of national legislation to liability and compensation
their legitimate interests. TOGO stated that if socio-economic consissues regarding transboundary movements of LMOs. SOUTH
erations are not addressed in a protocol, “weaker” countries, whichAd&RICA expressed qualified support for this position, explaining tha
not have the means to effectively monitor and control the introductibdepended on the content of national legislation as well as a country
of LMOs, will become “areas of experimentation,” citing the toxic commitment to implementation of international law.
waste trade by way of example. ZIMBABWE and COLOMBIA raised the issue of determining the

The EDMONDS INSTITUTE, speaking on behalf of 31 Americaidentity of involved Parties and authorities, and JAPAN noted that the
public-interest groups, stated that the protocol should allow for a Padyntry of origin is not necessarily liable. UGANDA, supported by
to reserve the right to ban LMOs on the basis of their own national BRAZIL, said the exporter of an LMO should be liable for compensa-
assessment of socio-economic impacts, and later called for a mordaton to the importer or other affected parties, absent negligence on tr
rium on the release of all LMOs until an appropriate biosafety protopalt of the importer. COLOMBIA suggested establishing the scope o
is in effect. In response to characterizations of industry as having cane standards for kinds of compensation. In response to a concern
blanche, the BIOTECHNOLOGY INDUSTRY ORGANIZATION  raised by G-77/CHINA regarding treatment of liability and compensa
asserted that biotechnology research and development is subject tiion, the Chair assured delegates that this would be given equal con:
greater scrutiny than any other field in human history. eration with other issues.

Vandana Shiva, speaking on behalf of the THIRD WORLD FRIENDS OF THE EARTH INTERNATIONAL called for a strict
NETWORK, cited “Mad Cow” disease as an example of the fallibilitiability regime, following the “producer pays” principle. ECOROPA
of science and asserted that socio-economic concerns are too serisagtthat liability was a crucial citizen’s issue and that the precau-
be relegated to trade-related footnotes. In a subsequent interventidipnary approach was the obligation of those who transfer, handle an
another representative of the same organization highlighted the abisaldiLMOs.
prospect of a biosafety protocol that prohibits Parties from excluding On the basis of country interventions, the Chair proposed that de!
imports on ethical grounds, especially in view of the fact that world gates adopt an options-based procedure similar to that agreed for
leaders are currently speaking out against human cloning. socio-economic issues.

On the basis of country interventions, the Chair summarized the |LLEGAL TRAFFIC: The Chair'sside-memoireon illegal
range of positions on how socio-economic considerations might beraffic identified the following issues: need for and scope of a provi-
addressed in the protocol: in the preamble; in articles or annexes osion on illegal traffic, and definition of illegal traffic as traffic that
advanced informed agreement or risk assessment and managemeiéliBerately circumvents national law that implements the protocol.
an exception to non-discrimination provisions; on a bilateral basis; With the exception of the US, all delegations that intervened on this
national legislation; and no consideration at all. Stating that these jssue (the EU, AUSTRALIA, COLOMBIA, DEMOCRATIC
views would be reflected in the report of the meeting, the Chair enVBEPUBLIC OF CONGO, ZIMBABWE and the AFRICAN GROUP)
aged a consolidated draft that would set out options proposed in  expressed a common understanding of what is meant by illegal traffi
government submissions on this matter. The EU and US expressed a preference to allow individual govern-

LIABILITY AND COMPENSATION: The Chair'saide- ments to define and address illegal traffic. The AFRICAN GROUP,
memoire framed key issues by highlighting the following topics:  AUSTRALIA, SOUTH AFRICA, MALAY SIA and CUBA indicated
adequacy of CBD Atrticle 14.2 (which provides for the COP to they had provided legal text on this item.
examine the issue of liability and redress, including restoration and  GREENPEACE INTERNATIONAL highlighted four main issues
compensation, for damage to biodiversity, except where such liabiligjated to illegal traffic: non-Parties; enforceability; relationship to the
is a purely internal matter); inclusion of these issues in the protocolyorld Trade Organization (WTO); and a nation’s right to ban or limit
scope and initiation of any provisions; relevance of existing internaimports of LMOs based on domestic laws.
tional agreements;, establishment of criteria for assessing liability and o, the basis of country interventions, the Chair said he would
compensation; inclusion of such criteria in the protocol itself or list§gtepare a draft Elements paper. Delegatés agreed to amend SWG-2
in a separate annex; and application of national legislation in caseq@indate so that it could prepare consolidated text for this item.
harm due to transboundary movements of LMOS'. NON-PARTIES: The Chair'saide-memoire on non-Parties

JAPAN and ARGENTINA maintained that the issues were  framed the following issues: need for a protocol provision: restriction

adequately covered by the CBD, with the latter urging support for th@ trade with non-Parties; and restrictions on trade with non-Parties
commencement of studies on the issue of liability and compensatiQfho are in full compliance with the protocaol.

INDIA, SOUTH AFRICA, ZIMBABWE, NORWAY, UGANDA, JAPAN, HAITI. the EU, ETHIOPIA, ZIMBABWE,

HAITI, MALAYSIA, BRAZIL and MEXICO stated that Article 14

L M, P / v TRALIA, COLOMBIA, UGANDA and NEW ZEALAND were
provided a starting point for addressing the crucial issues of compéag vor of addressing the issue of non-Parties in the protocol. JAPAI
tionand liability. INDIA, SOUTH AFRICA, COLOMBIA, UGANDA - aintained that the protocol should provide a mechanism for inte-

and the RUSSIAN FEDERATION said these issues should be : e ; ; :
; grating non-Parties into membership, but also noted that integration
addressed in the protocol, and MALAYSIA stressed the need for i non-Parties could occur though bilateral and multilateral arrang:

current action given the potential for harm to human health in addit ; ; : :
B e S e St s, proed omaion onsuh agrsens s e el
sions, given the difficulty of attempting to harmonize, on an Intema'geous to join the protocol than to stay outside it. The EU also high-
tional Ievel,_ national principles of liability and compensation. lighted the 1996 WTO report of the Committee on Trade and the

Regarding whether the protocol should only recognize the impggnyironment, which stated that the application of trade measures to
tance of these issues and call for later work, most of the participant§on-parties should be considered in the negotiation of multilateral
who favored development of specific provisions did not supporta enyironmental agreements. ZIMBABWE, AUSTRALIA,



Vol 9 No. 74 Page 5 @E@ﬂh.N.egotwﬂ?ﬂsﬁuﬂetm Monday, 20 October 1997

COLOMBIA and NEW ZEALAND agreed that tradewith non-Parties  health. Several delegations, including MALAYSIA, ETHIOPIA,

should be permitted, provided the safe movement of LMOsisin CUBA and COLOMBIA, emphasized socio-economic conditions in
compliance with the protocol. addition to human health.

While MALAY SIA agreed that trade with non-Parties should be The Chair noted that most of the ideas raised were reflected in
permitted, thetransfer of LM Osto non-Parties should not beallowed.  proposals already submitted by the African Group, Australia, Brazil,
Although the USwas not in favor of addressing non-Partiesin the Japan, Malaysia, Norway, South Africa and Switzerland. On the basi

protocol, in the event the protocol containssuch aprovision, it should  of country interventions, the Chair will prepare a draft Elements pape
beflexible and allow trade with non-Parties. ARGENTINA saiditwas  As with the matters of illegal traffic and non-discrimination, delegates
prematureto include such aprovision, but did not ruleout addressing  agreed to refer the issue of objectives to SWG-2 so that it could prepse

theissue at alater stage in the devel opment of the protocol. consolidated text for this item.

The EDMONDSINSTITUTE suggested using adightly amended GENERAL OBLIGATIONS: Delegates were guided by the
version of Article 4.4 of the 1987 Montreal Protocol on Ozone- Chair'saide-memoirethat considered Parties’ general obligations in
Depleting Substances asamodel for treatment of non-Partiesto the the following areas: emergency plans in case of accidental or unin-
protocol. tended transboundary movements; and legal, administrative and oth

Noting the wide range of opinions expressed by delegates, even measures to implement and enforce the protocol.
within regions, the Chair observed that this was a somewhat sensitive AUSTRALIA, COLOMBIA, ETHIOPIA, NEW ZEALAND,
issue. On the basis of country interventions, the Secretariat was NORWAY and UGANDA agreed that the protocol should establish

mandated to devel op an Elements paper, which could beincludedin general obligations regarding both matters. The EU stated that provi
the consolidated draft under proposed Article 23 on non-Parties. The  sions for general obligations should be defined either by specific ope

Secretariat text, which wastabled in thefollowing Plenary session ational provisions (e.g., AlA) or by general principles (e.g., adoption
presented a series of options under itstwo elements, one pertainingto  of national measures to implement the protocol).
non-Parties, the other pertaining to trade with non-Parties. Inthe COLOMBIA proposed a provision requiring each Party to apply

closing Plenary, the Chair requested removal of the element referring  the AIA procedure with regard to the transboundary movement of

to relevant provisions of theMontreal Protocol asaworking model for | MOs, with the receiving Party ensuring confidentiality of informa-
this protocol on tradewith non-Parties, on the groundsthat theelement  tion provided. AUSTRALIA stated that the article should also cover
wasan NGO proposal. AIA measures that are based on scientific principles and evidence, a

NON-DISCRIMINATION: The Chair'saide-memoireon non-  not more restrictive than domestic measures nor disguised restrictiol
discrimination raised the following issues: need for and scope of on international trade. AUSTRALIA added that Parties may impose
protocol provisions; bases for discriminating between LMOs; and additional requirements provided that these were consistent with the
consistency in permissible restrictions on LMOs. protocol and other relevant international agreements.

MALAYSIA opposed a provision on non-discrimination and Expressing the view that general obligations constitute provision:
asserted the sovereign right of each receiving country to make its dtait do not find a home elsewhere in the protocol, CANADA noted th
decision regarding the transfer, handling and use of LMOs. The EGroposed obligations were already addressed in draft Articles 15
stated that a number of issues could be addressed under non-disc(idnintentional Transboundary Movements), 16 (Emergency
nation. ETHIOPIA asserted that Parties should be able to discriminsteasures) and 17 (Handling, Transport, Packaging and Labeling).
INDIA said discrimination against LMOs should be permitted if SocliRGENTINA stated that emergency provisions should be addresse
economic considerations warrant it. JAPAN, supported by on a case-by-case basis, rather than under general provisions.
AUSTRALIA, said that Most Favored Nation (MFN) and National ARGENTINA also questioned the need to introduce an explicit obli-
Treatment principles should apply to LMOs. The US, MEXICO, gation pertaining to legal, administrative and other measures, given
ARGENTINA and NEW ZEALAND said that, while non-discriminathat Parties would need to adopt national legislation in order to imple
tion should be addressed in the protocol, Parties should not be ableent and enforce the protocol.
discriminate against LMOs. However, the US added that non-discrimi-After identifying the African Group, Australia, Brazil, Colombia,
nation should be addressed within the protocol solely within the  Norway and South Africa as having submitted proposals on the matte
context of AIA, and that non-discrimination includes discriminationthe Chair invited further government submissions. The US noted tha
against foreign LMOs in favor of domestic LMOs, as well as betwegny prior submissions by governments were in contravention of a de
foreign LMOs. sion taken by BSWG-2 that these should follow, rather than precede

On the basis of country interventions, the Chair will prepare a ddificussion of elements.

Elements paper. As with the issue of illegal traffic, delegates agreed tPREAMBLE: The Chair proposed that the Secretariat be
refer the matter of non-discrimination to SWG-2 so thatitcould  mandated to draft text for the preamble on the basis afdés
prepare consolidated text for this item. memoire. ARGENTINA requested that the drafting process be guidec

OBJECTIVES: The Chair'saide-memoire on objectives of the  not solely by theide-memoire, but by all relevant texts and submis-
protocol addressed the following topics: need to reflect the languaggons. Without offering any further explanation, the Chair asserted th
from COP Decision 11/5, which refers to a biosafety protocol “specifitmust be drafted on the basis of Hide-memoire or government
cally focusing on transboundary movement of any living modified submissions. CANADA proposed that the precautionary principle be
organism resulting from modern biotechnology (LMO) that may haeeldressed in the preamble.
adverse effects on the conservation and sustainable use of biological During the following evening’s Plenary, delegates accepted the
diversity”; and breadth of objectives regarding protection of biodivethair’s offer to produce a draft preamble for consideration at the nex
sity, the environment as a whole and human health. meeting. ETHIOPIA noted that the AFRICAN GROUP had submittec

AUSTRALIA, ARGENTINA, BRAZIL and the US stated that an written text on this and expressed the hope that the Chair would take
article on objectives should reflect the relevant language in Decisichis into consideration during his drafting exercise.

/5. The EU agreed and also proposed that the objectives take into  TITLE: On the basis of the Chair’s proposal, delegates mandate

account risks to human health. SWITZERLAND stated that the objége Secretariat to keep a running list of possible titles to be submittec

tive should reflect, but not limit itself to, the aspects addressed in dggigovernments for consideration at BSWG-4.

sion 11/5. AUSTRALIA's statement that it should be made clear that

biodiversity covers human health was supported by BRAZIL. NEWSUB-WORKING GROUP 1

ZEALAND stated that the protocol should aim to protect the environ- Sub-Working Group 1 (SWG-1), co-chaired by Sandra Wint

ment, biodiversity and human health. Citing Decision II/5 as well agJamaica) and Eric Schoonejans (France), met off and on for severa

CBD Article 19.3, the US objected to including a reference to humasessions from Monday afternoon, 13 October, to Thursday afternoor
16 October. SWG-1 was established by the BSWG with the objective



Monday, 20 October 1997 @Eaﬂh.N.egoﬂqtz.oﬂs__l?uﬂ_e_ﬂn Vol. 9 No. 74 Page 6

of developing aconsolidated draft negotiating legal text for draft Arti- Noting the procedure used to draft proposed Articles 13 and 14,
cles3-10 and 12-14, respectively: Advance Informed Agreement SWITZERLAND suggested that SWG-1 change tactics and meet firs
(AlA) (3); Notification Procedurefor AIA (4); Decision Procedurefor  for a general discussion, after which the drafting group could incorpc
AlA (5); Responseto AIA Naotification (6); Notification of Transit (7); rate proposals into its drafted text. ARGENTINA, supported by
Review of Decision Under AIA (8); Simplified Procedure (9); Subse-  MAURITIUS, suggested that SWG-1 and the drafting group meet in
guent Imports (10); Bilateral and Regiona Agreements (12); Risk parallel. However, the Co-Chairs, the EC and COLOMBIA noted that
Assessment (13); and Risk Management (14). SWG-1used asabasis SWG-1 decided at the outset to draft first and then hold discussions
for discussion the Compilation of Government Submissions of Draft based on the drafted text. SWG-1 agreed to continue with its current
Text on Selected Items (UNEP/CBD/BSWG/3/3); additional informa-  process for drafting text for the remaining nine articles, taking into

tion on draft Articles 3 and 6 from countries not contained in the account lessons from the drafting of Articles 13 and 14.

compilation (UNEP/CBD/BSWG/3/3/Add.1); List of Country On Thursday afternoon SWG-1 revisited draft Articles 13 and 14,
Submissions By Article (UNEP/CBD/BSWG/3/3/Add.3); List of which had incorporated SWG-1’'s amendments from the previous
Countriesthat Made Submissions (UNEP/CBD/BSWG/3/5/Add.1);  evening, for final approval before submission to the Plenary.

and the handout, Matrix of Country Submissionsby Articles. A Concerning draft Article 13, SWITZERLAND proposed that a “no
Chair’s text on the relevant draft articles was not provided. provision required” option be added under the concepts “information

At its first meeting on Monday afternoon, 13 October, SWG-1 to be provided” and “financial responsibility.” Draft Article 14
debated how to proceed with its work, specifically, whether its drafticgntained two options, one of which was a “no article” provision and
group should meet before, after, or in parallel to each SWG-1 sessibe.other with 13 paragraphs. Regarding an option that would require
In an effort to expedite the process, delegates agreed that drafting pfoducers to phase out all antibiotic resistance marker genes in LMC
text was to be done solely by the drafting group, which was limited by the year 2002, COLOMBIA's proposal to either remove this
the 20 regional representatives, four from each region, so that the specific reference or to list all possible themes was rejected by
varied interests of each region would be represented. At SWG-1's l@RWAY on the basis that this was an important point in their
second meeting on Tuesday afternoon, delegates decided that theproposal. The UK'’s proposal to merge two options was rejected by
drafting group should initiate the drafting process on an article-by- MALAYSIA on the grounds that the first option’s reference to CBD
article basis and, upon completion of draft text, SWG-1 would Article 8(g) imbues the paragraph with a different meaning. SWG-1
convene to review and approve the text for submission to the Plenaigreed to table both draft articles at the Plenary.

The Co-Chairs said the drafting group meeting was open to observerspTHER DRAFT ARTICLES: SWG-1 met in the late afternoon
however, they reiterated that participation in the actual drafting of text Thursday, 16 October, for slightly more than an hour to review ant
was limited to regional representatives. approve the entirety of the drafting group’s consolidated text for

At the first meeting of the drafting group, later Tuesday afternocsybmission to the Plenary. While SWG-1 had reviewed the drafting
the Co-Chairs reminded representatives that, rather than reviewingroup’s efforts concerning Risk Assessment (Article 13) and Risk
each paragraph individually, its goal was to consolidate text by idemfianagement (Article 14) the day before, this was the first time that
fying concepts that could be merged. However, the Co-Chairs alsoSWG-1 as a whole had the opportunity to comment on the draft text
noted that, as this was still a pre-negotiation exercise, country optitins remaining nine articles comprising its mandate, with three hours
could not be deleted, unless the author so agreed, although new optéonaining to prepare its report for submission to the Plenary. Delegat
could be proposed. expressed confusion as to the role of SWG-1, since only additions or

RISK ASSESSMENT AND RISK MANAGEMENT (draft mergers of options were permitted. ARGENTINA reiterated its
Articles13and 14): The drafting group began its work Tuesday afte3uggestion for SWG-1 and drafting group to meet in parallel at its ne:
noon with the drafting of text for proposed Articles 13 and 14. InsteBgeting and further suggested that all interested delegations be
of a Chair’s text, the drafting group used as a basis for discussion allowed to participate in the drafting process.
concepts paper prepared by the Secretariat, which summarized key ADVANCE INFORMED AGREEMENT (Articles4,5, 6 and
elements of (1) risk assessment: temporal obligations; aims; basic8): The drafting group consolidated four draft articles into a single
parameters; further specifications concerning parameters; subseqdeait text on AlA: Notification Procedure for AlA (Article 4); Deci-
risk assessments; information to be provided; and responsibility fosion Procedure for AlA (Article 5); Response to AIA Notification
risk assessment; and (2) risk management: cases when risk mana@&sticle 6); and Review of Decision Under AlA (Article 8). The
ment is pertinent; consequences of risk management; basis for rislkelements of the AlA procedure were divided into 12 subsections, witl
management; and further arrangements. a series of options listed under each. SWITZERLAND suggested

At the outset, the drafting group engaged in lengthy proceduralinserting “no provision is necessary” as an option to the subsection
discussions. After some initial consolidation work, some regional “responsibility for accuracy of information,” and under the “safeguarc
representatives complained that previous suggestions had not beetlause.” COLOMBIA supported a proposal by the SEYCHELLES to
accurately reflected in subsequent draft texts. Midway through the employ “or living products thereof” in relation to LMOs, noting that
morning session on Wednesday, at the request of one regional reptae contact group addressing definitions decided that the concept of
sentative from the drafting group, NGOs were excluded from living products should be treated within the definition of LMOs. The
observing the meeting. The drafting group continued to consolidaté&ecretariat said the Jakarta Mandate specifies that the scope of the
draft Articles 13 and 14 and presented its results to SWG-1 on protocol pertains to LMOs, and the extension of the definition is
Wednesday in a late afternoon session. “LMOs and products thereof.” The draft text was approved by SWG-.

Draft Article 13 listed a series of options under each of the concitsubmission to the Plenary. _ _
headings for inclusion in the protocol. During the SWG-1 session, the NOTIFICATION OF TRANSIT (Article7): Options for draft
EC, COLOMBIA and the US identified options they considered  Article 7 on Notification of Transit are divided into four sections:
redundant. COLOMBIA suggested that countries with similar optiofgauirements; acknowledgment/response; treatment of goods in
meet and find ways to consolidate text. Draft Article 14 contained 16ansit; and no specific provisions under this article. One minor
options that were not grouped under concept headings. MALAY S|&mendment was proposed and the draft text was approved by SWG
noted that the options were not mutually exclusive and that several SIMPLIFIED PROCEDURE (Article9): Draft Article 9
reflected her country’s position. BRAZIL, supported by INDIA, contained 10 options, including an option for no provisions for simpli-
suggested that the first option, which proposed no article onrisk fied procedure. No substantive discussion ensued and the draft text
management, be juxtaposed as a separate option to the other parawvas approved by SWG-1.
graphs, which advocates various degrees of risk management SUBSEQUENT IMPORTS (Article 10): Options for draft
measures. Article 10 are divided into three sections: notification; application; anc

regulation. There were no comments on the draft text, which was
approved by SWG-1.



Vol. 9 No. 74 Page 7

Monday, 20 October 1997

BILATERAL AND REGIONAL AGREEMENTS(Article12):
Optionsfor draft Article 12 were divided into five sections. no provi-
sion; type of agreements or arrangements; notification of agreement or
arrangement; international cooperation; and regional economic inte-
gration organizations. Typesof arrangementswerefurther divided into
bilateral, regional or multilateral; multilateral; and bilateral or multi-
lateral. Organizational amendments were suggested by the EU and
JAPAN and the draft text was approved by SWG-1.

SCOPE OF APPLICATION OF THE AIA PROCEDURE:
Thedrafting group presented a streamlined draft text of optionsfor
Scope of Application of the AlA Procedure, organized under the
following sections: all LMOs subject to AlA; al first timetrans-
boundary movements of LM Os; all LM Os except those (explicitly
excluded)(identified in an annex aslow risk) subject to AIA; importing
State decides whether exporter should apply national regulations or
Protocol; LMOsincluded based on criterialisted in annex; and LM Os
intended for field testing, or first field growth or banned/no regul atory
decision. However, SWITZERLAND questioned the usefulness of the
document asit seemed to cause confusion between the fiel ds of appli-
cation and procedure. Neverthel ess, the draft text was approved by
SWG-1.

SWITZERLAND said it was not completely satisfied with the
results of SWG-1. The EC noted that, while more could have been
achieved, the drafting group did a “good job.”

Regarding the working arrangements for the SWG-1 drafting

On Monday, 13 October, Co-Chair Gamble opened the first sessi
by recalling that the group’s mandate was not to negotiate draft text b
to identify options for future negotiations. He proposed working on at
article-by-article basis, with drafting work to commence immediately
after discussion of each article. He also raised the “delicate question
regarding whether to create a core group of drafters, reminding parti
pants that the answer must be a consensus decision. Given the time
constraints, the RUSSIAN FEDERATION and NORWAY supported
restricted participation for drafting legal text. SWITZERLAND called
for a flexible process so that options could reflect the full range of
participants’ ideas, including those of environmental NGOs and
industry. SOUTH AFRICA and the US recommended beginning with
the whole group, and moving to a smaller drafting group if necessary

At its second session, on Tuesday, 14 October, delegates began
consolidation process with full and open representation. For each
article, participants expressed their positions on which articles shoul
be retained. Options included: no article; country submissions or the
Chair’s draft text in its entirety; distinct sections of existing text; modi:
fications and/or additions to existing text; and combinations of these
positions. The US noted that the Chair’s draft text appeared to be a
summation of country submissions, as opposed to specific coherent
proposals, because it contained mutually exclusive options.

CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION (Article11): Draft text on
Article 11 addressedhter alia: protection of intellectual proprietary
rights; confidentiality of information relevant to LMOSs; procedures to

group, AUSTRALIA, supported by CHILE and the US, asked that itnsure confidentiality; and roles of competent authorities. Options
be put on record Australia’s view that SWG-1 must operate on the retained included the Chair’s draft, with and without a US proposal tc
basis of open-ended discussions so that all delegations can participééetext regardingnter alia, procedures to ensure comparable treat-
if they so choose. Co-Chair Wint said that, due to time constraints &nent for imported versus domestic LMOs. Several delegations

the SWG-1's heavy agenda, the methodology of regional represengported the EU text option, with BRAZIL adding a provision that
tion was the only possible way to conduct their work. The EC said the@uld require exporters to provide all information requested by an
given the complexity of its mandate, SWG-1 achieved a remarkablé#nporting Party. Some differences among final options included: spe
result in spite of its difficult beginning. A representative of the GreeiiiCity of responsible parties, and scope of information covered and
Industry Biotechnology Platform (GIBiP/Assinsel), expressed his justifications required for denying confidential treatment.

regret that the working arrangements of SWG-1 prevented his industrnyAfter consolidating text on Article 11, the RUSSIAN FEDERA-
from expressing its views and warned that such an approach may TION's motion for creation of a drafting group was supported by the
exclude other industries with necessary technological information UK, but defeated by SWITZERLAND, POLAND, ARGENTINA,

from future negotiations.

BRAZIL and CHINA, who emphasized the importance of reducing

On Thursday evening, Co-Chair Wint presented SWG-1's repoi@ptions.

on Articles 3-10 and 12-14 to the Plenary. With the exception of

MINIMUM NATIONAL STANDARDS (Article 15): This draft

Article 3, consolidated texts had been prepared. Noting that SWG-article concerned establishment of national administrative and regul:
had been aware at the outset that fulfilling its mandate would be ditipry systems to assess and manage risks associated with LMOs.
cult, she said SWG-1 had succeeded in producing a document for ZIMBABWE requested recognition that some countries may require

inclusion in the consolidated draft.

assistance to develop such standards. Many delegations argued age

The SEYCHELLES noted that its earlier amendment to an optighseparate article on this issue, including ARGENTINA, the EU,
in the draft Article on AIA concerning the concept of living productsAUSTRALIA, the US and COLOMBIA. JAPAN said that appropriate
was not reflective of the African Group submission, and asked thatgtandards should be determined by each contracting Party. Delegate
word “living” regarding “products thereof” be removed. He said thegpporting retention of a separate article included the RUSSIAN
should be no reference to LMOs, only modified organisms. He notédEDERATION, NORWAY, POLAND and ARGENTINA. CANADA
that while the SWG-1 Co-Chairs interpreted the Jakarta Mandate t@géed text allowing imposition of more stringent requirements, base
applicable to only LMOs or suitable products, from his perspective 0 scientific consideration. Final options included the Chair’s draft
also refers to use of LMOs, and not LMOs exclusively. Chair Koestt&xt, Canada’s text, and no article.

agreed to revisit the issue at later meetings and in the meantime

advised delegations to refer to CBD Article 19(3) on LMOs.
SUB-WORKING GROUP 2

UNINTENTIONAL TRANSBOUNDARY MOVEMENTS
(Article16): HAITI suggested that confirmation of such unintentional
movements should be conducted by an independent group of expert
JAPAN favored no article on this issue, noting it was adequately

Sub-Working Group 2 (SWG-2), co-chaired by David Gamble covered under the CBD. BRAZIL, ZIMBABWE, INDIA and
(New Zealand) and Hira Jhamtani (Indonesia) met for six sessions@ANADA favored inclusion of the Chair’s draft text. The US and
prepare draft consolidated text on proposed Articles 11 and 15 to 22USTRALIA supported modifications to the Chair’s text, while the
on the following issues, respectively: Confidential Information (11);EU supported its own text as an option. Some differences among
Minimum National Standards (15); Unintentional Transboundary ' options included: the type of unintentional movements that would
Movements (16); Emergency Measures (17); Handling, Transport,trigger notification requirements; and the scope of action required,
Packaging, and Labeling (18); Competent Authority/Focal Point (18)ich as whether a Party of origin must minimize impacts.

Information Sharing/Biosafety Clearing-House (20); Capacity

. EMERGENCY MEASURES (Article17): This draft article

Building (21); and Public Awareness/Public Participation (22). Partighy|d establish national emergency measures and notification proce

pants had before them a compilation of government submissions

ures for accidental transfers of LMOs that pose risks to the environ-

was an initial distillation of country submissions (UNEP/CBD/
BSWG/3/Inf.4).

views of JAPAN, the US and POLAND, said this article was unneces



Monday, 20 October 1997 @Eaﬂh.N.egoﬂqtz.oﬂs__l?uﬂ_e_ﬂn Vol. 9 No. 74 Page 8

sary, explaining that these measures are covered under national stan- tries, not only on North/South lines but also South/South lines, and
dards. Delegates identified the Chair’s draft as the other option for iiessed the need for better information on temperate and tropical
article. ecosystems.

HANDL ING, TRANSPORT, PACKAGING AND LABELING SWG-2 narrowed submissions from 17 to five options, including
(Article 18): This draft article would address national measures forthe “no article” option. The other options included: the Chair’s entire
transboundary handling, transport, packaging and labeling of LMOdraft text; portions of it, with and without amendments from the EU
and the rights of receiving Parties to impose environmentally protetext. Prominent differences among options included: the degree of
tive terms and conditions. There were 13 country submissions on tbiarity on financial and programmatic responsibility for capacity
issue and SWG-2 reduced the options to six: the Chair’s text (HAIThuilding; inclusion of capacity development in biotechnology as well
INDONESIA, BRAZIL); the Chair’s text with a variety of proposed as biosafety; and emphasis on capacity in risk assessment and man
modifications (AUSTRALIA, SOUTH AFRICA, ZIMBABWE, US); ment procedures.

Japan’s text; Norway's text (ARGENTINA); new text proposed by PUBLIC AWARENESS/PUBLIC PARTICIPATION (Article
CANADA; and a new proposal by the EU. The options ranged fronp2): This draft article generated a discussion on the merits of its inclu
one that called for a general requirement of safe transport to anothsion, although all speakers favored the general concept. The

that would establish specific documentation and labeling procedurgg)SSIAN FEDERATION stressed the importance of public aware-
Some options called for development of standards by the COP, whiless, particularly with regard to new technologies, but suggested us:
others drew upon existing international standards. of a preambular statement, since this issue is also addressed in draf

COMPETENT AUTHORITY/FOCAL POINT (Article19): Article 20 on information sharing/biosafety clearing-house. The EU
This draft article would require establishment of national competengaid the CBD adequately covers this issue. Participants speaking in
authorities and/or focal points to receive notifications and communfavor of retaining the article included: AUSTRALIA, DOMINICAN
cate decisions on LMOs. Some participants expressed concern REPUBLIC, PHILIPPINES, MALI, SWITZERLAND, JAPAN,
regarding determination of competency, while others sought greateZIMBABWE, ARGENTINA, US and BRAZIL. Final options
clarity on the distinction between competent authorities and focal included: no article; preambular text; the Chair’s text in its entirety;
points. CHINA, MAURITANIA and ZIMBABWE highlighted the portions of the Chair’s text with and without modifications; and texts
need for more specific language on capacity building. SWG-2 consalbmitted by Switzerland, Japan and India. Some options encourag
dated 18 country submissions into six options: the Chair’s text; themeasures “as appropriate” and “within a country’s capacity” to ensur
Chair’s text with various modifications (CHINA, MAURITANIA, public awareness. Others would establish specific procedures, such

HAITI, MALI); Australia’s text (ARGENTINA, COSTA RICA, opportunity for public hearings during the approval processes for
BRAZIL, COLOMBIA, US); Japan’s text; and the EU's text LMOs.
(RUSSIAN FEDERATION and POLAND). The options varied in At the beginning of the afternoon session, delegates considered

specificity and scope of responsibility and authority. Some options whether to attempt further consolidation of the draft text. Some partic
establish specific obligations, such as risk assessment, or grant pants thought additional reduction of overlap could be achieved.
authority to impose appropriate conditions relative to the protectiorahers identified the following difficulties: the working text was avail-
the environment on the transfer, handling or use of LMOs. able only in English; consultation with capitals should precede furthe
INFORMATION SHARING/BIOSAFETY CLEARING- refinement; further progress would entail negotiation; and creation of
HOUSE (Article 20): SWG-2 narrowed the options from 19 to severpre drafting group should precede any attempts at improvement. Tt
although these contained numerous variations. ARGENTINA high-US suggested the group consider additional work on draft Article 19
lighted the importance of information exchange for confidence regarding competent authorities, where there appeared to be a fair
building, especially with regard to new technologies and, for this amount of overlap. Delegates agreed. As the close of the afternoon
reason, supported India’s text. Other options identified included: theession loomed without a clear resolution, ZIMBABWE suggested
Chair’s text; sections of and modifications to the Chair’s text; the U8iat perhaps, now, it was finally appropriate to consider working as a
text; Colombia’s text; Switzerland’s text; Japan’s text; Canada’s tex¢maller drafting group. SWG-2 agreed to create a drafting group at it
and the EU’s text. Differences among proposed options inclided, next session, comprised of SWG-2's regional representatives who
alia: recognition of special needs of developing countries; programwere nominated during the Monday afternoon Plenary. Its work was
matic location and structure of a clearing house/information centerbe limited to consolidating obvious commonalities among options fol
specificity of information to be handled by a clearing-house; and Article 19; and the entire group would review the new draft consolida
extent of access to such information. tion. Co-Chair Gamble reminded participants that any smaller draftin
The second session of SWG-2 concluded with participants ~ group was to be open, unless the group decided otherwise by
expressing general satisfaction with the work accomplished, and wégnsensus. SWG-2 opted for an open-ended drafting group, with
a general expectation that further refinement would occur through &peaking rights for all governments.

drafting process. Decisions made at the evening Plenary, on Wednesday, 15 Octok
Delegates began the third session, on 15 October, by consoliddffiged SWG-2 to reevaluate its remaining work. Its rapid progress or
text on draft Article 21. consolidation was rewarded with the charge of developing consoli-

CAPACITY BUILDING (Article21): This draft article would ~ dated text for four outstanding issues. For this reason, SWG-2 never

address capacity building in biosafety and/or biotechnology. Severgpnvened a smaller drafting group to pursue additional work on Articl
delegations, inciuding the RUSSIAN FEDERATION, JAPAN and th&?- The group completed a final review of the proposed articles at its
EU acknowledged the importance of capacity building to the effectig&th session. Co-Chair Gamble presented to the Plenary on 16
functioning of a biosafety protocol, but observed that a general oblig&iober a report that contained consolidated draft text for Articles 11
tion to participate in capacity building already exists under other intéfd 15-22, expressing confidence that the options covered a range c
national frameworks. ZIMBABWE expressed strong support for ~ POsitions over which negotiations could take place. He especially
inclusion of the article, and, with MOROCCO, highlighted the impof€cognized the cooperation and positive work of the non-English
tance of training in biotechnology in addition to biosafety. Many othgipeaking delegations. On behalf of SWG-2, he requested the report
delegations supported a separate article on this issue, including: tHecorporated into the proposed consolidated draft being prepared for
PHILIPPINES, AUSTRALIA, BRAZIL, MALAYSIA, SOUTH consideration and negotiation at BSWG’s next session.

AFRICA and VENEZUELA. CHINA concurred, drawing attentionto  SWG-2 also prepared a set of reports on the following outstandin
the issue of Risk Assessment and Management, an area in which riggpigs: illegal traffic; non-discrimination; objectives; and general obli
developing countries have weak capacity. ARGENTINA said inclu-gations. For each of these items, SWG-2didermemoires, a Chair’s

sion of the article would help encourage cooperation between courfiraft for Elements papers, and government submissions. Co-Chair
Gamble noted that this was the first review of these items, and

acknowledged that some delegations were disadvantaged since tex



Vol.9 No. 74 Page 9

Monday, 20 October 1997

wasonly availablein English. Against thisbackground, SWG-2
limited itsreview of each item to consolidating elements, where
possible, and ensuring that the draft elementsfairly reflected the
discussions heldin the Plenary. SWG-2 al so approved a chapeau
drafted by CANADA for each item that described their process of
review and invited additional government submissionson thetopic. At
the evening Plenary on 16 October, Co-Chair Gamble presented
reports on theseissuesin theform of options, which governmentswere
invited to use asabasisfor future submissions.

CONTACT GROUP ON DEFINITIONS AND ANNEXES

The Contact Group on Definitions and Annexes (CG-1) met for
three sessions under the co-chairmanship of Piet van der Meer (the
Netherlands) and Gert Willemse (South Africa). Asabasisfor its
discussion, CG-1 referred to the Compilation of Definitionsand Terms
Relevant to a Biosafety Protocol (UNEP/CBD/BSWG/3/Inf.1),
comprising some 80 terms el aborated by the Contact Group on Defini-
tions established at BSWG-2 (UNEP/CBD/BSWG/2/5). The group
first identified some 30 termsthat need to be defined asapriority, with
the understanding that other items could beidentified in the course of
negotiations. These are: accidental release; competent authority;
contained use; deliberate release; export and import; exporter; field
trial; focal point; illegal traffic; importer; liability; living modified
organisms; notification; novel traits; organism; party of export; party
of import; party of transit; party concerned; party of origin; potential
receiving environment; product; receiving party; transboundary move-
ment; transboundary rel ease; unconfined release; unintended rel ease;
and unintended transboundary movement. Thefollowing termswere
initially selected as priority items but werelater either dropped from
thelist or merged with the oneslisted above: advance informed agree-
ment; information exchange; open environment; precautionary prin-
ciple/approach; and transboundary transfer.

CG-1 then determined whether the use of terms presented in the
submissions could be merged (in the case of aconvergence of the
submissions) or should be presented as separate options (in case of a
divergence). Onthisbasis, the Co-Chairs prepared aconsolidated draft
text that was considered by the group at its second and third sessions,
during which CG-1 conducted aterm-by-term review, bracketing text
and proposing further options. Notably, following consultations with
Chair Koester and asaresult of concurrent discussionsin SWG-1, the
Co-Chairs proposed to employ the term “living products thereof” in

conjunction with the term LMOs. However, the proposal was defeated

b

]
S(g;gw_vention; Signature; Ratification, Acceptance or Approval; Acces:

sion may take place as to whether and to what extent this term cou&i

on the grounds, as some delegates argued, that determining such
would exceed its mandate and prejudice the work of SWG-1 regar
the scope of the protocol. Later, in presenting CG-1's text on Use
Terms to Plenary, Co-Chair van der Meer explained that further di

replaced by “LMOs and products thereof”.

As a basis for their discussions on annexes to the protocol, CG
referred to the BSWG Chair’s draft text on possible contents (UNE
CBD/BSWG/3/Inf.4), which contains the following five annexes:
information required in order to obtain advance informed agreeme
(Annex |); risk assessment parameters (Annex Il); risk manageme

schemes (Annex Ill); function of focal points/competent authorities

)

(Annex IV); and information to be provided to the Secretariat unde
information-sharing/clearing-house (Annex V). At the first session,
Co-Chair Willemse proposed that a consolidated draft text be prep

for the first two annexes, which CG-1 could characterize as “necesP€’

of and criteria for LMOs, genes/traits and activities with LMOs to
which the protocol shall not apply; relevant information on LMOs; anc
cases of explicit consent.

CG-1's consolidated draft text, comprised of “Use of Terms” and
“Annexes”, was adopted in Plenary and will go forward to BSWG-4 a
a basis for future negotiations.

CONTACT GROUP ON INSTITUTIONAL MATTERS AND
FINAL CLAUSES

The Contact Group on Institutional Matters and Final Clauses
(CG-2) met for three sessions under the chairmanship of John Ashe
(Antigua and Barbuda). As a basis for deliberations on institutional
matters, relevant sections of the Secretariat's Compilation Draft Text
on Selected Items (UNEP/CBD/BSWG/3/4) were replaced with a hal
page text that addressed the four following items: Trust Fund; Finan-
cial Mechanism and Resources; Institutional Framework; and Meet-
ings of Parties. At the first session, CG-2 engaged in a broad and
preliminary exchange of views on these matters.

At its second session, the Chair presented a two-page text
containing the following sections: Financial Mechanism and
Resources; Conference of the Parties; Secretariat; Subsidiary Bodie
and Mechanisms; and Final Clauses. A non-Party to the CBD
proposed replacing the term “Conference of Parties” to the CBD with
“Meeting of Parties” to the protocol. This same government later
reconsidered its initial proposal to remove references to the CBD
itself, but retained brackets around the draft article that provided that
non-Parties could make reservations to the protocol.

When the Chair also tabled text on monitoring and compliance
procedures, several delegates dismissed it as both premature and u
licited, and requested that it be withdrawn. Also tabled was an
Informal Note by the BSWG Chair on Compliance Mechanisms for
the Protocol. Although delegates were not prepared to consider the
document at this meeting, they indicated their willingness to take it
back to their respective capitals for further consideration at the next
meeting.

CG-2 prepared draft text outlining its proposals on the following
institutional matters: Monitoring and Compliance; Financial Mecha-
nism and Resources; Conference of Parties; Secretariat; Subsidiary
Bodies and Mechanisms; and Relationship with Other International
Conventions.

In addition to the text introduced by the Chair, several alternative:
e presented under each of the main headings. With the exceptior
draft article on Reservations, none of the final clauses were the
ject of discussion in CG-2. These are: Relationship with the

, Entry into Force; Reservations; Withdrawals; and Authentic
exts. CG-2 also recommended an examination of the CBD, in partic
lar Articles 21-42, in order to determine the extent to which provi-

'é ns on institutional matters would need to be included in the
otocol.

nt Inpresenting the results of CG-2's work to Plenary, Chair Ashe

IgLated that although the text contained no brackets per se, the entire

should be viewed with “mental brackets” since all options were still
pen. The draft text was adopted in Plenary and incorporated into

BSWG-3's consolidated text, with the understanding that the matters

r its consideration would need to be reviewed at BSWG-4,
aps on a paragraph-by-paragraph basis.

sary” annexes, leaving the remaining three as “potential” annexes to b& response to requests by ETHIOPIA, on behalf of the African

developed as the need arose. However, after a brief discussion at
first session, CG-1 agreed to retain all five annexes. Without

f@youp, and SWITZERLAND to have their respective submissions or

institutional matters included in the consolidated text, the Chair state

discussing the actual content of any of these, CG-1 agreed that thefat it would have been useful for governments and regional groups
draft annexes may or may not ultimately form part of the protocol ag@annel their submissions through the relevant SWGs and CGs. Ch:
that the list of annexes, including those proposed in government Koester further explained that governments who made submissions
submissions, would remain open to any future additions. To this erfdlis stage were in contravention of the decision taken at BSWG-2 thz
the group identified the following potential annexes that would rem&#ft articles to be developed by the Secretariat were to serve as the
on the agenda for future consideration: guidelines/requirements forQ@sas for work at this meeting. ETHIOPIAs subsequent offer to with-
of LMOs in contained facilities; information requirements for uninte@taw the regional submission (with the proviso that it could be

tional release/transboundary movement; information requirementsstgpmitted at a later stage) was countered the DEMOCRATIC
notification; information requirements for simplified procedures; lisl§SEPUBLIC OF CONGO, and it was retained.



Monday, 20 October 1997 @Eaﬂh.N.egoﬂqtz.oﬂs__l?uﬂ_e_ﬂn Vol. 9 No. 74 Page 10

FUTURE WORK AND MEETINGS CBD Executive Secretary Calestous Juma thanked Chair Koeste

During an evening Plenary, on Thursday, 16 October, the Chair for his support to the Secretariat, and noted the timely transmissions
presented an aide-memoire on future work in which he outlined the governments, which allowed the Secretariat to improve upon the
following procedural elements: character of the consolidated draft; quality of the documents. He also thanked several countries for their
continuation of the present structure; work to be undertaken until the  financial contributions, which allowed many delegates from devel-
next meeting; and character of the next meeting. oping countries to attend.

In response to the Chair’s recommendation that the present struc- In closing the meeting, Chair Koester thanked the Bureau, Co-
ture and mandates of the SWGs be maintained for the next meetin§hairs, technical advisors, interpreters, translators, report writers, th
AUSTRALIA conveyed the unwillingness of JUSSCANNZ (Japan, Secretariat and the delegations, particularly those represented by a
US, Switzerland, Canada, Australia, Norway and New Zealand) to single person, for their hard work and patience. The meeting adjourn:
continue to operate on the basis of four regional representatives giaéapproximately 1:30 pm on Friday, 17 October 1997.
thatin onehSWGhthis arrarllgerr?ent served as a basis to deny some
countries the right to speak. The Chair maintained that the regional -
representatives were not intended to serve as spokespersons for the ) A BRIEFANALYS S OF B_SWG 3
region but rather to facilitate the effective participation of smaller dele-Chair Veit Koester opened the third session of Open-eAdetibc
gations; any decision to limit speaking rights would need to be takeé®orking Group on Biosafety (BSWG) by outlining the extensive
by consensus. On the basis of this explanation, delegates agreed @mount of work the group must accomplish if it is to fulfill its mandate
maintain the regional system. BURKINA FASO recorded its reservi@ produce a protocol by the end of 1998. He underscored the need t
tion to continuing with two distinct SWGs as the BSWG moves intoprepare draft text in legal terms, signaling that, except on the so-call
negotiations. “outstanding issues,” such as socio-economic considerations and

In order for the BSWG to complete its work by the end of 1998, igpility and compensation, the process had moved beyond issue def
aide-memoire from the Bureau made several recommendations  Nition and element identification, which characterized the two
regarding future meetings. Notably, the Bureau recommended the Prévious meetings of the BSWG. Throughout the session, delegates
COP consider the necessary mechanism by which two additional Were reminded that their task was not to negotiate, but to produce a

meetings of the BSWG, as well as an extraordinary session of the %Qﬂsolidated text upon which future negotiations would be based. In
for the adoption of the protocol, could be held in 1998. e course of consolidating the voluminous government submissions

Delegates deliberated the number, timing and duration of thesedreas of divergence and convergence among country positions were

meetings during Plenary sessions on Thursday evening and Fridafurth?-r ?_ISII”ed, tfPerteby acctentlfatmg some of the major obstacles tc
morning. On the basis of the BSWG's decision to hold its next meetiffgota!ing an efrective pro ocol.
from 9-18 February 1998, delegates agreed a deadline of 1 DecempefPROUP DYNAMICS: One of the obstacles relates to group
1997 for government submissions in all official languages. Stating tid#amics and especially the fact that opinions on biosafety do not
the time for general statements had passed, the Chair encouraged/€cessarily vary along North-South lines. This had an impact both or
governments to limit their submissions to legal text either for amenf€ negotiation dynamics within the two Sub-Working Groups as wel
ments to the options already presented in the consolidated text or f&¢ Within regional groups. _
new draft articles under the following sub-headings: Socio-economic The two Sub-Working Groups presented a study in contrasts, as
considerations; Liability and compensation; lllegal traffic; Non- ~ 0ne group established a drafting group composed of regional repres
discrimination; Non-Parties; Objectives; and General obligations. tatives, while the other withstood pressure to follow suit, instead mai
On the basis of a suggestion by SWEDEN, on behalf of the EU, {#i8inN9 full and open representation throughou} its working sessions.
Secretariat was instructed to communicate information to all focal S0Me participants privately noted that SWG-1's drafting group floun:
points, with copies to all Heads of Delegation, about the financial dered in procedural issues and, perhaps more importantly, unneces:
implications of three meetings. JAPAN stated that the budgetary infifiy alienated some delegations by deciding to deny speaking right
cations of additional meetings were a matter for consideration at COPWever, some participants felt the regional representation process
4. In view of the need to distribute the budget by January, if it is to BE€!f should not be faulted, only its implementation, since such a
realistically considered at COP-4, delegates agreed the budget shg)gie€m. in theory, provided a voice for their concerns at the drafting
be based on a two-week summer meeting, with the understanding - Although SWG-2 enjoyed acclaim for its “workman-like”
it could be reduced to six working days pending progress achieved®PYress on text consolidation, one delegate expressed frustration o
the February meeting. Delegates agreed that BSWG-5 would be h8fgf Peing able to make further progress in a smaller drafting group.
sometime during the last two weeks of July 1998, deferring to the Others maintained that comparison of the two groups was unrealistic
Secretariat to determine exact dates in light of other intergovernme@i4n the contentiousness of Advance Informed Agreement (AIA)
meetings and conference facilities. Delegates also agreed that theRig¥isions addressed by SWG-1, and the availability of working text

meeting of the BSWG and adoption ceremony should be held somBLovided by the Chair for SWG-2 issues. In any event, itis crucial the
time in early December 1998. WG-1 develop an effectiveodus operandi, especially since, as

many believe, the issues under its care will ultimately make or break
CLOSING PLENARY the protocol.

In the final Plenary, delegates considered the Chair’s draft report ofOthers postulated that SWG-1's difficulties may have stemmed
the meeting (UNEP/CBD/BSWG/3/L.1). The Chair proposed an  more from splits in regional groups than procedural flaws. The split
amendment to clarify the consensus process that would be requirediithin the G-77/China, and particularly the Latin American and Carib
the event that a SWG or CG sought to limit governmental participabean Group (GRULAC), witnessed at previous meetings of the BSW
tion. The EU stated that, in the future, the systematic use of draftingvas paralleled only by divisions within the Western Europe and Othe
groups will be necessary to reduce the numerous options in the cufgatip (WEOG), and particularly JUSSCANNZ (Japan, US, Switzer-
draft text, and encouraged delegations to consult in an effort to metged, Canada, Australia, Norway and New Zealand), at this meeting.
options. Noting that additional funding is required for the three The latter group’s overt resistance to regional representation was no
biosafety meetings necessary for the BSWG to meet its deadline, thienply of matter of principle or procedure; it reflected substantive ant
representative called on countries for financial contributions. substantial differences within the group. Such differences led one

Speaking on behalf of G-77/CHINA, INDONESIA’ salute to theobserver to quip that the number of positions in the group is roughly
Secretariat and interpretors was met with general applause. Sever@fiual to the number of its members.
delegations expressed their appreciation for the Chair’s expert facilitaFROM CONSOLIDATION TO NEGOTIATION: A second
tion of the meeting. obstacle that emerged at this session was the transition from consoll
tion to negotiation. If BSWG-2 provided a platform for governments
to present their respective positions, BSWG-3 offered an opportunity



Vol. 9 No. 74 Page 11

Monday, 20 October 1997

to consolidate them, thereby allowing for abetter identification of
areas of divergence and convergence. However, the line between
consolidation and negotiation was not clearly drawn at thismeeting, a
reflection of thefact that the process of identifying and reducing
optionsthat will serveasabasisfor negotiationisanintensely political
exercise.

Several participants observed that thework of this meeting only
required governmentsto ensure that their preferred options remained
fully represented in the draft text and that the difficult negotiations had
yet to be embraced. Neverthel ess, some participants took full advan-
tage of the opportunity to safeguard their positions by bracketing
seemingly minute nuancesin every arena, effectively increasing rather
than consolidating the draft optionsin some cases. It was acknowl-
edged that the hesitation of some nations, in particular those with
nascent biotechnology industries, to embrace definite positionsisa
reflection of the cutting-edge nature of theissue-areaitself: some
countries are cautious about committing to international ruleswhich
may preclude future possibilities.

Although Chair K oester admonished participantsto restrain them-
selvesfrom further embellishments on the agreed text, delegates
continued to seek assurances until the closing minutes of BSWG-3 that
their preferred optionswereindeed available. Whileflexibility within
the negotiation processisessential to ensurethat abiosafety protocol is
adopted and ratified by as many Parties as possible, continued expan-
sion of the options in the draft text will certainly hamper BSWG's
ability to negotiate a protocol by the end of 1998.

OBSTACLESTOANEFFECTIVE PROTOCOL: While many

TRADITIONAL KNOWLEDGE WORKSHOP: A workshop
on the implementation of Article 8(j) (traditional knowledge) of the
Convention on Biological Diversity is scheduled for 24-28 November
1997 in Madrid. Venue: Municipal Convention Centre (Palacio
Municipal de Congresos, Avenida de la Capital de Espana, Madrid, <
n, Campo de las Naciones, 28042 Madrid, tel: + (34-1) 722-0400; fa
+(34-1) 721-0607. For more information, contact the CBD Secre-
tariat.

REGIONAL WORKSHOPSON THE CLEARINGHOUSE
MECHANISM: The Asian Regional Workshop is tentatively sched-
uled for 3-5 November 1997 in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. The African
Regional Workshop is tentatively scheduled for November/Decembe
1997 in a venue to be determined. The Workshop for countries with
economies in transition is tentatively scheduled for November/
December 1997 in G6dollo, Hungary. For more information, contact
the CBD Secretariat.

PREPARATORY MEETINGSFOR COP-4: The Asian Prepa-
ratory Meeting is tentatively scheduled for January 1998 in Beijing,
China. The African Preparatory Meeting is tentatively scheduled for
February 1998 in Morocco. The Latin American and Caribbean Prep
ratory Meeting is tentatively scheduled for February/March in a venu
to be determined. The Preparatory Meeting for countries with econo-
mies in transition is scheduled for March 1998 in Almaty, Kazakstan.
For more information, contact the CBD Secretariat.

FOURTH CONFERENCE OF THE PARTIESTO THE
CONVENTION ON BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY: COP-4is
scheduled for 4-15 May 1998 in Bratislava, Slovakia. For more infor-

delegates are optimistic about the prospect for completing a biosafetgtion, contact the CBD Secretariat.

protocol on schedule, many reserve judgment as to whether it will be BJODIVERSITY CONSERVATION AND CONTROLSON

an effective protocol. Such concerns can be evidenced from repeagdCESSTO GENETIC RESOURCESWORK SHOP: This work-
calls for reassurance that the outstanding issues on which no subsgaap will be held on 31 October 1997 North York, Ontario. The Cana
tive draft text has been prepared will receive equal treatment beforgian Institute for Environmental Law and Policy (CIELAP) and
completion of the protocol. Itis feared that the protocol’s effectivenggf/ironmental law centres in the US, Costa Rica, Ecuador, Colombic
will be hampered if future negotiations do not provide the opportuniperu, Paraguay and Argentina have completed a series of reports

for a full airing of the issues.

detailing each country’s legal and policy mechanisms addressing the

One industry representative maintained that the “excessive expaovisions in the Biodiversity Convention. Workshop participants will
tations” of some G-77 countries reflects a failure to conduct a soundear and discuss the findings of these reports. For further logistical
cost-benefit analysis of biotechnology. Developing country demandsormation and background please contact: Kumarie Khadoo
for provisions regarding socio-economic considerations and liabilitfCIELAP); tel:+1 (416) 923-3529; fax: +1 (416) 923-5949; e-
and compensation are tantamount to applying a disproportionatelymail:cielap@web.net.
high entry fee to biotechnology. Such concerns were expressed by WORKSHOP ON BIODIVERSITY AND SUSTAINABLE
several developed countries, particularly about the prospect that thBEVEL OPMENT IN LATIN AMERICA: This workshop will be
protocol would serve as a new pretext for protectionist measures. held from 27 - 28 November 1997 in Amsterdam, the Netherlands. Fi

In a statement to Plenary, the representative of the EU framed thwre information, contact CEDLA Workshop 1997, Keizersgracht
challenge to BSWG as it enters the next phase of its work: the adv&97; Amsterdam, 1016 EK, the Netherlands, fax: +31-20-625-5127;
tages of joining the protocol must outweigh the disadvantages. Thenail: carriere@cedla.uva.nl.

development of a biosafety protocol represents a critical attempt to

THIRD CONGRESSOF THE CONSERVATION OF CARIB-

operationalize one of the key and most contentious elements of theSEAN BIODIVERSITY: This conference will be held from 14-17
Convention on Biological Diversity. Whether the biosafety protocol January 1998 in Santo Domingo, Dominican Republic. For more
follows in the steps of the 1987 Montreal Protocol on Substances thgfbrmation, contact the Univeridad Autonama de Santo Domingo,
Deplete the Ozone Layer, by becoming more important than its pap; tel: +1 (809) 686-3348; fax: +1 (809) 687-5766.

convention, remains to be seen. However, unless some of the obstacleg TERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON MEDICINAL

currently facing the negotiations are overcome, the successful comglexNTS CONSERVATION, UTILIZATION, TRADE AND

tion of the biosafety protocol will be of greater concern than its pot

tial fame.

THINGSTO LOOK FOR
WORKING GROUP ON BIOSAFETY: The fourth session of

the Open-endedld Hoc Working Group on Biosafety will take place
in Montreal from 9-18 February 1998. Delegates have also agreed

ErOCULTURES: This meeting is scheduled from 16-20 February

1998 at the National Institute of Advanced Studies, Indian Institute o
Science Campus, Bangalore, India. The meeting will focus on the
issue of medicinal plants for survival. For further information, contact
the Foundation for Revitalization of Local Health Traditions
(FRLHT), No. 50, 2nd Stage, MSHLayout, Anandnagar, Bangalore
0,024, India; tel:+91 80 333 6909/0348; fax:+91 80 333 4167;
il: root@frlht.ernet.in.

BSWG-5 should be held sometime during the last two weeks of July, EIGHTH SESSION OF THE COMMI1SSION ON GENETIC

deferring to the Secretariat to determine exact dates in light of oth
intergovernmental meetings and conference facilities. Delegates
agreed that the final meeting of the BSWG and adoption ceremon 19
should be held sometime in early December. For more information
contact the CBD Secretariat, World Trade Centre, 393 St. Jacques
Street, Montreal, Quebec, Canada H2Y 1N9; tel: +1-514-288-2220;,

fax: +1-514-288-6588; e-mail: chm@biodiv.org; Internet: http://
www.biodiv.org.

SOURCESFOR FOOD AND AGRICULTURE: The next

sion of the CGFRA will take place during the second half of April
99. For more information, contact FAO: Viale delle Terme di Cara-
calla, 00100 Rome, Italy; tel: +39-6-52251. Also try http://
.fao.org or http://web.icppgr.fao.org.



